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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE MIDDLE DISTRICT OF TENNESEE 

NASHVILLE DIVISION 

 

 

ALVIN GOODMAN, on behalf of himself 

and similarly situated employees, 

     Plaintiff, 

 

 

 v. 

 

 

MID SOUTH WAFFLES, INC., 

    Defendant. 

 

: 

: 

: 

: 

: 

: 

: 

: 

: 

: 

: 

: 

 

CIVIL ACTION No.:  

 

 

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

 

 

COLLECTIVE ACTION COMPLAINT 

 Plaintiff Alvin Goodman (“Plaintiff”), on behalf of himself and similarly situated 

employees, brings this collective action lawsuit against Defendant Mid South Waffles, Inc. 

(“Defendant”), seeking all available relief under the Fair Labor Standards Act of 1938 (“FLSA”), 

29 U.S.C. §§ 201, et seq. Plaintiff asserts his FLSA claim as a collective action claim under 29 

U.S.C. § 216(b). 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

1. This Court has subject-matter jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s FLSA claims pursuant to 28 

U.S.C. § 1331 because Plaintiff’s claims raise a federal question under 29 U.S.C. § 201, et seq. 

2. This Court has jurisdiction over this FLSA collective action pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 

216(b), which provides that suit under the FLSA “may be maintained against any employer . . . 

in any Federal or State court of competent jurisdiction.” 

3. Defendant’s annual sales exceed $500,000, and Defendant employs more than two 

persons, so the FLSA applies in this case on an enterprise basis.  Defendant’s employees engage 

in interstate commerce; therefore, it is also covered by the FLSA on an individual basis. 

Case 3:18-cv-00705   Document 1   Filed 07/30/18   Page 1 of 12 PageID #: 1



2 

 

4. Venue is proper in this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391 because the actions and 

omissions giving rise to the claims pled in this Complaint substantially occurred in this District. 

PARTIES 

5. Plaintiff is an individual residing in Antioch, Tennessee.   

6. Defendant is a corporate entity registered to do business in Tennessee and maintaining 

a principal place of business at 5986 Financial Dr., Norcross, GA 30071. Its registered agent is 

Corporation Service Company located at 2908 Poston Ave., Nashville, TN 37203.  

7. Defendant is a Waffle House restaurant franchise that operates, upon information and 

belief, at least 125 Waffle House locations in Mississippi, Alabama, Tennessee, and Georgia.   

8. Defendant is an employer covered by the record-keeping, minimum wage, and 

overtime pay mandates of the FLSA. 

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

9. Defendant employs Servers at all of its Waffle House restaurants. 

10. Plaintiff was employed by Defendant as a Server at several of its Waffle House 

restaurant locations including in Hermitage, Antioch, Lebanon, and Goodlettsville, Tennessee.   

11. Plaintiff was employed by Defendant as a Server from approximately February of 

1999 to May 31, 2018.  

12. Defendant paid Plaintiff and other Servers a sub-minimum hourly wage of $1.20, plus 

any tips earned and paid by restaurant patrons. 

13. However, Defendant maintains a company-wide policy and practice which required 

Plaintiff and other Servers to spend more than 20% of their work time performing non-tip 

producing work.  Such non-tip producing work includes, but is not limited to, cleaning under 

tables, sweeping and mopping the floors, washing the walls and windows, cleaning the vents, 
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wiping down the lamps, spraying insect repellant, disassembling, cleaning and reassembling the 

dish tank, soda, and orange juice machines, bringing ice from the back of house to the front, 

taking out the trash, and doing dishes.  

14. Defendant has paid Plaintiff and other Servers a sub-minimum hourly wage of $1.20 

for time spent performing the non-tip producing work described in paragraph 13. 

15. The non-tip producing work has not helped Plaintiff and Servers earn tips from 

restaurant patrons.   

16. Defendant routinely required Plaintiff and other Servers to perform non-tip producing 

work while they are not serving patrons in the restaurant. 

17. Defendant required Plaintiff to perform non-tip producing work while paying him a 

sub-minimum hourly wage of $1.20 during each shift that he worked.  In the absence of 

discovery, Plaintiff estimates that he spent an average of approximately 70%-80% of each shift 

performing non-tip producing work.   

18. Upon information and belief, Defendant required its Servers at all of its Waffle House 

restaurants to spend more than 20% of their time performing non-tip producing work while 

earning a sub-minimum wage.  

19. Defendant also had a company-wide practice of telling Plaintiff and Servers not to 

claim any cash tips at the end of each shift. Instead, Managers would input an arbitrary amount 

of cash tips into the timekeeping computer system after every shift for Plaintiff and other 

Servers, which did not accurately reflect the amount of tips Plaintiff and other Servers actually 

received.  
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20. Not only would this practice result in Plaintiff and Servers often not receiving the 

$6.05 tip credit as required by the FLSA, Plaintiff and Servers would have to pay taxes on tips 

they did not actually earn. 

21. Furthermore, Defendant required Plaintiff and Servers to complete non-tip producing 

work off the clock after their shift ended. If Plaintiff and Servers did not complete the non-tip 

producing work within their scheduled work shift, the Manager would clock out Plaintiff and 

Servers and require them to complete the non-tip producing work without pay.  

22. Not only were Plaintiff and other Servers clocked out at the end of their shifts to 

perform non-tip producing work, Defendant implemented a policy in which Managers clocked 

out Plaintiff and other Servers once they had worked 40 hours in a week.  

23. As a result, even though Plaintiff and other Servers would routinely work over 40 

hours per week, they did not receive overtime wages for any hours worked over 40 in a work 

week. 

24. Defendant also had a policy of withholding wages from Plaintiff and Servers for a 

meal deduction. Approximately $3.25 per day was deducted from Plaintiff’s paycheck to cover 

the cost of a meal. However, this amount would be taken out of Plaintiff’s paychecks on days 

when he did not receive a meal and even on days when he did not work.  

FLSA COLLECTIVE ALLEGATIONS 

25. Plaintiff brings this action on behalf of himself and all similarly situated employees, 

defined as: 

All current and former Servers who worked for Defendant at its Waffle House 

restaurants at any time during the past three years.  

 

(hereinafter referred to herein as “Collective Action Members”).  Plaintiff reserves the right to 

amend this definition if necessary. 
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26. Plaintiff pursues his FLSA claim on behalf of any Collective Action Members who 

opt-in to this action pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b). 

27. Plaintiff and the Collective Action Members are “similarly situated,” as that term is 

defined in 29 U.S.C. § 216(b), because, inter alia, they have been subjected to Defendant’s 

company-wide pay policies and practices, as discussed in paragraphs 8-27 above. 

COUNT I 

(29 U.S.C. § 216(b) Collective Action) 

VIOLATION OF THE FAIR LABOR STANDARDS ACT, 

29 U.S.C. § 201, et seq. -- FAILURE TO PAY MINIMUM WAGE 

 

28. Plaintiff hereby incorporates all of the preceding paragraphs. 

29. At all relevant times, Plaintiff and the Collective Action Members were employees 

entitled to the FLSA’s protections. 

30. Defendant is an employer covered by the FLSA. 

31. The FLSA entitles employees to minimum hourly compensation of at least $7.25 for 

hours worked under 40 in a week, see 29 U.S.C. § 206(b), and $10.875 for hours worked over 40 

in a week, see id. at § 207(a)(1). 

32. Defendant’s company-wide policy and practice of requiring Plaintiff and other 

Servers to perform work without receiving wages, such as over-claiming tips and performing off-

the-clock work, resulted in a failure to satisfy its minimum wage obligations to Plaintiff and the 

Collective Action Members. As such, Defendant violated the FLSA by failing to pay Plaintiff 

and other Servers the minimum wage.  

33. In violating the FLSA, Defendant acted willfully and with reckless disregard of 

clearly applicable FLSA provisions. 

34. Plaintiff consents in writing to join this action, and his consent is attached hereto as 

Exhibit A.  
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COUNT II 

(29 U.S.C. § 216(b) Collective Action) 

VIOLATION OF THE FAIR LABOR STANDARDS ACT, 

29 U.S.C. § 201, et seq. – VIOLATION OF DUAL JOBS PROVISION 
 

35. Plaintiff hereby incorporates all preceding paragraphs. 

36. Under the tip-credit provisions of the FLSA, an employer of tipped employees may, 

in limited circumstances, pay those employees a sub- minimum hourly wage and take a “tip 

credit” against its minimum wage obligations.  

37. However, an employer is not permitted to take a tip credit against its minimum wage 

obligations when it requires its tipped employees to perform non-tip producing work that is 

unrelated to the employee’s tipped occupation.  See e.g., Driver v. AppleIllinois, LLC, 739 F.3d 

1073, 1075 (7th Cir. 2014) (Posner, J.) (explaining that when tipped employees perform “non-

tipped duties” that “are unrelated to their tipped duties . . . such as, in the case of restaurant 

servers, washing dishes, preparing food, mopping the floor, or cleaning bathrooms, they are 

entitled to the full minimum wage for the time they spend at that work”) (emphasis added). 

38. Defendant violated the FLSA by requiring Plaintiffs and other Servers to perform 

non-tip producing work that is unrelated to their tipped occupation, such as, inter alia, cleaning 

under tables, sweeping and mopping the floors, washing the walls and windows, cleaning the 

vents, wiping down the lamps, spraying insect repellant, disassembling, cleaning and 

reassembling the dish tank, soda, and orange juice machines, bringing ice from the back of house 

to the front, taking out the trash, and doing dishes. 

39. Defendant failed and/or refused to comply with the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 201, et seq., 

29 C.F.R. § 531.56(e), and the Department of Labor Field Operations Handbook §30d00(f)1 by 

                                                 
1 (Dec. 9, 1988, revised Nov. 17, 2016) (see https://www.dol.gov/whd/FOH/FOH_Ch30.pdf) 
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requiring Plaintiff and other Servers in a given workweek, and during each and every workweek 

they were employed by Defendant, to perform non-tip producing work constituting a “dual job” 

that was unrelated to their tipped occupation, over the course of their regular workweek, as 

identified in the preceding paragraph.  

40. At all times during Plaintiff and other Servers’ employment, Defendant paid them at 

the sub-minimum hourly wage rate. 

41. As a result, Defendant failed and/or refused to pay Plaintiff and other Servers the full 

applicable minimum wage as required by the FLSA for each and every workweek they were 

employed by Defendant, in violation of 29 U.S.C. § 206(a). 

42. Defendant knew that – or acted with reckless disregard as to whether – its failure to 

pay Plaintiff and other Servers the full applicable minimum wage, without applying the tip 

credit, for time spent performing labor in such an unrelated non-tipped occupation, would violate 

federal law and Defendant was aware of the FLSA minimum wage requirements at all relevant 

times. As such, Defendant’s conduct constitutes a willful violation of the FLSA.   

43. Plaintiff and other Servers are therefore entitled to compensation for the full 

minimum wage at an hourly rate, to be proven at trial, plus an additional equal amount as 

liquidated damages, together with interest, reasonable attorneys’ fees, and costs. 

COUNT III 

(29 U.S.C. § 216(b) Collective Action) 

VIOLATION OF THE FAIR LABOR STANDARDS ACT, 

29 U.S.C. § 201, et seq. – VIOLATION OF THE TWENTY PERCENT RULE 

 

44. Plaintiff hereby incorporates all preceding paragraphs. 

45. Under the tip-credit provisions of the FLSA, an employer of tipped employees may, 

in limited circumstances, pay those employees less than the minimum hourly wage and take a 

“tip credit” against its minimum wage obligations. 
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46. However, an employer is not permitted to take a tip credit against its minimum wage 

obligations when it requires its tipped employees to perform non-tip producing side work that, 

although related to the employee’s tipped occupation, exceeds 20% of the employees’ time 

worked during a shift. See e.g., Fast v. Applebee’s Int’l, Inc., 638 F.3d 872, 880 (8th Cir. 2011) 

(“employees who spend ‘substantial time’ (defined as more than 20 percent) performing related 

but nontipped duties should be paid at the full minimum wage for that time”). 

47. To the extent Plaintiff’s and other Servers’ non-tip producing work of, for example, 

cleaning under tables, sweeping and mopping the floors, washing the walls and windows, 

cleaning the vents, wiping down the lamps, spraying insect repellant, disassembling, cleaning 

and reassembling the dish tank, soda, and orange juice machines, bringing ice from the back of 

house to the front, taking out the trash, and doing dishes is found to be related to their tipped 

occupation, Defendant violated the FLSA by requiring Plaintiff and other Servers to perform this 

non-tip producing work for more than 20% of their weekly work hours. 

48. Defendant failed and/or refused to comply with the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 201, et seq., 

29 C.F.R. § 531.56(e), and the Department of Labor Field Operations Handbook §30d00(f) by 

requiring Plaintiff and other Servers in a given workweek, and during each and every workweek 

they were employed by Defendant, to spend more than 20% of their work time performing 

related, but non-tip producing work.  

49. At all times during Plaintiff and other Servers’ employment, Defendant paid them at 

the sub-minimum hourly wage rate. 

50. As a result, Defendant failed and/or refused to pay Plaintiff and other Servers the full 

applicable minimum wage as required by the FLSA for each and every workweek they were 

employed by Defendant, in violation of 29 U.S.C. § 206(a). 
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51. Defendant knew that – or acted with reckless disregard as to whether – its failure to 

pay Plaintiff and other Servers the full applicable minimum wage, without applying the tip 

credit, for time spent performing such non-tip producing work for more than 20% of their weekly 

hours, would violate federal law and Defendant was aware of the FLSA minimum wage 

requirements at all relevant times.  As such, Defendant’s conduct constitutes a willful violation 

of the FLSA.   

52. Plaintiff and other Servers are therefore entitled to compensation for the full 

minimum wage at an hourly rate, to be proven at trial, plus an additional equal amount as 

liquidated damages, together with interest, reasonable attorneys’ fees, and costs. 

COUNT IV 

(29 U.S.C. § 216(b) Collective Action) 

VIOLATION OF THE FAIR LABOR STANDARDS ACT, 

29 U.S.C. § 201, et seq. – FAILURE TO PAY OVERTIME 

53. Plaintiff hereby incorporates all preceding paragraphs. 

54. At all relevant times, Plaintiff and other Servers were employees entitled to the 

FLSA’s protections. 

55. Defendant is an employer covered by the FLSA. 

56. The FLSA entitles employees to a minimum hourly compensation of $7.25 for hours 

worked under 40 in a week, see 29 U.S.C. § 206(b), and $10.875 for hours worked over 40 in a 

week, see id. at § 207(a)(1). 

57. At all relevant times, Defendant had a policy and practice of willfully refusing to pay 

Plaintiff and Collective Action Members the legally required amount of overtime compensation 

for all hours worked in excess of 40 hours per workweek, in violation of the FLSA.  

58. As a result of Defendant willful failure to compensate Plaintiff and the Collective 

Action Members at a rate not less than 1.5 times the regular rate of pay for work performed in 

Case 3:18-cv-00705   Document 1   Filed 07/30/18   Page 9 of 12 PageID #: 9



10 

 

excess of 40 hours in a workweek, Defendant has violated and continues to violate the FLSA, 29 

U.S.C. § 201 et seq., including 29 U.S.C. §§ 207(a)(1), 215(a), and 29 C.F.R. §§ 778.104. 

59. Defendant conduct as alleged herein constitutes a willful violation of the FLSA 

within the meaning of 29 U.S.C. § 255(a). 

60. Due to Defendant violations, Plaintiff and the Collective Action Members are entitled 

to recover from Defendant their unpaid wages for the legally required amount of overtime 

compensation for all the hours worked by them in excess of 40 in a workweek, actual and 

liquidated damages, including the employer’s share of FICA, FUTA, state unemployment 

insurance, and any other required employment taxes, reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs and 

disbursements of this action, pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b).  

JURY TRIAL DEMAND 

 Plaintiff demands a trial by jury pursuant to Rule 38 of the Federal Rules of Civil 

Procedure and the court rules and statutes made and provided with respect to the above entitled 

cause. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, on behalf of himself and the Collective Action Members, 

seeks the following relief: 

A. Certifying this case as a collective action (for the Collective Action Members) in 

accordance with 29 U.S.C. § 216(b) with respect to the FLSA claims set forth herein; 

B. All unpaid minimum wages and overtime wages owed; 

C. A finding that Defendant’s conduct was willful; 

D. Prejudgment interest; 

E. Liquidated damages;  
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F. Litigation costs, expenses, and attorneys’ fees; and  

G. Such other and further relief as this Court deems just and proper. 

 

Date: July 30, 2018     Respectfully Submitted, 

 

/s/ Jerry E. Martin 

Jerry E. Martin, Esq. 

David Garrison, Esq. 

Joshua A. Frank, Esq. 

BARRETT JOHNSTON MARTIN & 

GARRISON LLC 

414 Union Street, Suite 900 

Nashville, TN 37219 

(615) 244-2202 (Tel.) 

(615) 252-3798 (Fax) 

jmartin@barrettjohnston.com 

dgarrison@barrettjohnston.com 

jfrank@barrettjohnston.com 

 

Nicholas A. Migliaccio, Esq.*  

Jason S. Rathod, Esq.*  

MIGLIACCIO & RATHOD LLP 

412 H St., NE 

Suite 302 

Washington, DC 20002 

(202) 470-3520 (Tel.)  

(202) 800-2730 (Fax) 

nmigliaccio@classlawdc.com 

jrathod@classlawdc.com 

 

 

Peter Winebrake, Esq.* 

R. Andrew Santillo, Esq.* 

Mark J. Gottesfeld, Esq.* 

WINEBRAKE & SANTILLO, LLC 

715 Twining Road, Suite 211 

Dresher, PA 19025 

(215) 884-2491 (Tel.) 

(215) 884-2492 (Fax) 

pwinebrake@winebrakelaw.com 

asantillo@winebrakelaw.com 
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mgottesfeld@winebrakelaw.com 

 

*pro had vice admission anticipated 
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NOTICE OF CONSENT 
 

By my signature below, I consent to become a party plaintiff in a lawsuit seeking damages for 
unpaid wages under the Fair Labor Standards Act against Mid South Waffles, Inc. and any other 
entities or individuals who are determined to be employers under the Fair Labor Standards Act 
for the claims set forth in the Complaint. I hereby appoint attorneys at the law firms of 
Migliaccio & Rathod LLP in Washington D.C., Winebrake & Santillo, LLC, and Barrett 
Johnston Martin & Garrison LLC, and others that the above attorneys choose to associate with, 
to represent me in this case. 

 

Name: ______________________________________ 

 

Date: __________ 

 

Signature: ___________________________________ 

 

 

 

07/27/2018

Alvin Goodman
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